I. Introduction 

Permanent spousal maintenance awards are disfavored in this 

state. Moreover, it is a per se abuse of discretion for a trial court to not 

fairly consider the statutory factors in RCW 26.09.090 when awarding 

maintenance. Here, the trial court entered a level lifetime maintenance 

award to the former wife. It made no finding she had no ability to work. 

It did not find, conclude, or state that it considered the required statutory 

factors. Finally, it did not consider what effect the former wife's 

employment would have upon her need for maintenance or what effect 

the former husband's retirement or disability would have on his ability to 

pay maintenance. It also did not consider the effect that wife's receiving 

one-half former husband's social security benefits would have upon her 

need for maintenance. Under these circumstances, the trial court abused 

its discretion in awarding the former wife level lifetime maintenance and 

reversal is required. 

II. Assignments of Error 

A. The trial court erred when it ordered that maintenance should be paid 

to the former wife for the duration of her life. (Finding of Fact 2.12; 

Dissolution Decree ~ 3.7) 



B. The trial court erred when it based its award of lifetime maintenance 

on Mr. Singh's conduct during the marriage. (Finding of Fact 2.12) 

C. The trial court abused its discretion when it failed to fairly consider 

the statutory factors in RCW 26.09.090 when making a spousal 

maintenance award. (Finding of Fact 2.12) 

D. The trial court's finding that the wife's emotional condition makes it 

likely she will never be able to acquire sufficient education or training 

to find appropriate employment is not supported by substantial 

evidence. (Finding of Fact 2.12). 

E. The trial court erred when it overlooked the effect of Mr. Singh's 

disability or retirement when it ordered lifetime maintenance. 

(Finding of Fact 2.12) 

F. The trial court erred when it failed to take into account the modest 

lifestyle of the parties during the marriage. (Finding of Fact 2.12) 

G. The trial court erred when it failed to consider wife's eligibility for 

half husband's social security and medicare. (Finding of Fact 2.12) 

III. Issues 

1. Whether the trial court abused its discretion when it failed to fairly 

consider all the statutory criteria in RCW 26.09.090 as evidenced by 

its failure to take into account the effect ofMr. Singh's eventual 

disability or retirement, the parties' modest lifestyle during the 
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marriage, the effect of the former wife's eventual re-entry into the 

work force, and Ms. Singh's ability to collect one-half of Mr. Singh's 

social security benefits and medicare, when it made its level lifetime 

maintenance award. (Assignments of Error A, C, E, F, G.) 

2. Whether the trial court's finding that the wife's emotional condition 

makes it likely she will never be able to acquire sufficient education 

or training to find appropriate employment is supported by substantial 

evidence. (Assignment of Error D.) 

3. Whether the trial court's finding that the wife's emotional condition 

makes it likely she will never be able to acquire sufficient education 

or training to find appropriate employment is sufficient to support an 

award oflifetime maintenance. (Assignments of Error A, C, D.) 

4. Whether the trial court violated RCW 26.09.090 when it made a 

lifetime maintenance award and when it based a lifetime maintenance 

award in part on the conduct of a party during the marriage. 

(Assignments of Error A, B.) 
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IV. Statement of the Case 

In 2008, Gurmit Singh separated from his wife of 18 years, Satvir 

Kaur (the "former wife").) Mr. Singh petitioned for dissolution because 

he believed that the marriage was broken beyond the point of recovery. 2 

Mr. Singh and the former wife were married by means of an 

arranged marriage in India.3 Shortly thereafter, Mr. Singh moved to the 

United States where he began working.4 

While Mr. Singh was in the United States, the former wife 

continued living in India with Mr. Singh's family.s Mr. Singh remitted 

money to his family in India while he was working in the United States.6 

When Mr. Singh sent money to his family, a portion was given to the 

former wife for discretionary spending; the remainder was used as 

income to support the household and its expenses.7 During that time, the 

former wife cared for Mr. Singh's family and did work around the family 

home.8 

I CP 12 Ln. 16. 
2 CP 1 Ln. 25. 
3 VRP Vol. IV Pg. 274 Ln. 24 . 
4 VRP Vol. IV Pg. 274 Ln. 21-Pg. 275 Ln. 10. 
5 VRP Vol. IV Pg. 275 Ln. 6. 
6 VRP Vol. IV Pg. 275 Ln. 22 . 
7 VRP Vol. IV Pg. 275 Ln. 22. 
8 VRP Vol. IV Pg. 275 Ln. 12. 
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In 2002, the former wife and the couple's daughter (the 

"daughter") immigrated to the United States.9 After the former wife came 

to the United States, she worked for a number of different employers, 10 

including Kelly Services, TS Services, and Sky Chef in positions 

including working in a warehouse and washing dishes. I I The Wife has 

also found work cleaning apartments. 12 Though her work was 

inconsistent, the former wife was capable of earning income and did earn 

income. 13 

Mr. Singh worked almost every day driving a taxi. 14 As Mr. Singh 

and the former wife and daughter continued to live together, the stress of 

demanding work and long hours got the better of Mr. Singh. IS The 

marriage began to devolve until, eventually, the parties separated in 2008. 

When Mr. Singh and the former wife separated, the former wife 

and the daughter went to live with Mr. Singh' s brother. 16 Since that time, 

the former wife and daughter have become self-sufficient. They are 

working different jobs and covering their own expenses. 17 Due to his 

declining health, Mr. Singh has been unable to continue working as much 

9 VRP Vol. IV Pg. 276 Ln. 4 
to VRP Vol. IV Pg. 282 Ln. 10 
II VRP Vol. IV Pg. 286 Ln. 12-Pg. 287 Ln. 2 
12 VRP Vol. IV, Pg. 286, Ln. 10-14. 
13 VRP Vol. IV Pg. 282-83 . 
14 VRP Vol. IV Pg. 281 Ln. 6-11 
15 VRP Vol. IV Pg. 281 Ln. 9 
16 VRP Vol. IV Pg. 285 Ln. 16 
17 VRP Vol. IV Pg. 288 Ln. 11 
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as previously and his earnings have dropped accordingly. 18 He suffers 

from depression, for which he takes medication, in addition to high 

cholesterol, diabetes, and high blood pressure. 19 

v. Argument 

A. Standard of Review 

Maintenance awards are reviewed for an abuse of discretion, but 

it is always an abuse of discretion for a trial court to award maintenance 

ifit does not fairly consider all the statutory factors in RCW 26.09.090?O 

An appellate court will uphold challenged findings of fact and treat the 

findings as verities on appeal if the findings are supported by substantial 

evidence?) 

B. Permanent Maintenance Awards are Disfavored and Lifetime 
Maintenance Awards Have Only Been Upheld When the Party 
Seeking Maintenance has a Permanent Debilitating Health 
Condition. 

Permanent maintenance awards are disfavored in this state?2 

Further, it is not the policy of the law to place a permanent responsibility 

upon a divorced spouse to support a former wife; she is under an 

18 VRP Vol. I Pg. 48 Ln 23-25 and Pg. 128 Ln. 20-22. 
19 VRP. Vol. I Pg. 48 Ln 23-25; Vol. I Pg. 23 Ln 23-25. 
20 In re Marriage a/Spreen, 107 Wn. App. 341,349,28 P.3d 769 (2001); and In re 
Marriage o/Crosetto, 82 Wn. App. 545,558,918 P.2d 954, 960 (1996). 
21 In re Estate a/Jones, 152 Wn.2d I, 8, 93 P.3d 147 (2004). 
22 Mose v. Mose, 4 Wn. App. 204, 208, 480 P .2d 517, 519 (1971); and In re Marriage 0/ 
Coyle, 61 Wn. App. 653, 657, 811 P.2d 244,246 (1991). 
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obligation to prepare herself so that she might become self-supporting.23 

Nor is the wife entitled to maintain her former standard of living as a 

matter of right. 24 It is the policy of this state to place a duty upon the wife 

to gain employment, if possible.25 Despite this, the trial court ignored the 

law and awarded the former wife permanent lifetime maintenance at a 

level amount. 

A lifetime maintenance award can only be approved when it is 

clear that the party seeking maintenance will not be able to contribute 

significantly to his or her own livelihood.26 In Mathews, the court set out 

the statutory factors that must be considered when determining the 

amount and length of maintenance that should be awarded to a former 

spouse.27 

Washington courts have approved lifetime maintenance awards in 

a reasonable amount when it is clear the party seeking maintenance will 

not be able to contribute significantly to his or her own livelihood?8 

In Mathews, the Court of Appeals held that the trial court's 

lifetime maintenance award was an abuse of discretion.29 In that case, the 

23 Cleaver v. Cleaver, 10 Wn. App. 14,20,516 P.2d 508, 512-13 (1973). 
24 Cleaver, 10 Wn. App. at 20. 
25 !d.; and Matter a/Marriage a/Olsen, 24 Wn. App. 292, 300, n.2, 600 P.2d 690,695 
(1979). 
26 In re Marriage a/Mathews, 70 Wn. App. 116, 124,853 P.2d 462, 466-67 (1993). 
27 In re Marriage a/Mathews, 70 Wn. App. 116, 122,853 P.2d 462, 466-67 (1993). 
28 I d. at 124. 
29 Id. at 123. 
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trial court inferred that Mr. Mathews would continue to moonlight when 

there was no evidence proving he was currently earning income apart 

from his fire fighter salary and the trial court did not provide for a 

reduction in maintenance after Mr. Mathews retired; these two factors 

made it appear as though Mathews did not have the "ability ... to meet his 

needs and financial obligations," RCW 26.09.090(l)(f), while meeting 

the obligations imposed by the trial court.30 

A second consideration was that Mrs. Mathews had over $800 a 

month in excess of the income remaining to Mr. Mathews.3l Third, 

although it was established that Mrs. Mathews had some health problems, 

there was no finding that these health problems prevented her from 

working; the Court of Appeals stated that in fact the order requiring that 

Mr. Mathews pay the tuition for Mrs. Mathews' retraining conflicted with 

such a finding. 32 

Fourth, while a court may order maintenance to compensate a 

spouse when allegations such as those Mrs. Mathews made against Mr. 

Mathews are proved, the record in Mathews failed to prove that Mr. 

Mathews dissipated community assets by dismantling his construction 

company prior to the divorce or that he concealed community assets 

30 I d. at 123. 
31 Id. at 123-24. 
32Id. at 124. 
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earned as a result of an unspecified interest in a restaurant.33 Fifth and 

finally, the trial court overlooked the effect of Mr. Mathews' disability or 

retirement when it ordered one-half of his current monthly income for an 

indefinite period.34 

In Morrow, the trial court's maintenance award was upheld for 

several reasons, including that Mrs. Morrow had a "progressively 

deteriorating physical condition,,,35 diabetic retinopathy that occasionally 

rendered her legally blind,36 with the court expressly stating that it was 

"[h]er disability" which made "lifetime maintenance reasonable in the 

circumstances.,,37 In In re Marriage of Tower, the Court of Appeals 

upheld the amount and permanent duration of an award of maintenance in 

a 19-year marriage where the wife had multiple sclerosis that 

substantially limited her activities.38 In In re Marriage of Bulicek, the 

wife was awarded monthly maintenance until her former husband retired, 

but there again she was "in ill health.,,39 The Court of Appeals reversed 

Mrs. Mathews' maintenance award despite the trial court having heard 

testimony from her two doctors and her counselor raising a "question as 

33 Id. at 124. 
34 1d. at 124. 
35 In re Marriage of Morrow, 53 Wn. App. 579, 586, 770 P.2d 197 (1989). 
36 Id. at 581. 
37 Id. at 588. 
38 In re Marriage of Tower, 55 Wn. App. 697, 780 P.2d 863 (1989), review denied, 114 
Wn.2d 1002,788 P.2d 1077 (1990). 
39 In re Marriage of Bulicek, 59 Wn. App. 630, 634, 800 P.2d 394 (1990). 

9 



to whether or not she will ever be able to handle full-time gainful 

employment. ,,40 

C. The Lower Court Erred When It Ordered Mr. Singh To Pay 
Lifetime Maintenance To The Former Wife. 

While "the award of maintenance is within the trial court's 

discretion," the statutory factors must be considered by the court in its 

award.41 It is an abuse of discretion to make a maintenance award 

without fairly considering all the statutory factors in RCW 26.09.090 

when making the award.42 "RCW 26.09.090(1) provides the court may 

grant a maintenance order ... in an amount and for a period of time the 

court deems juSt.,,43 In ordering such maintenance, the court considers all 

relevant factors, including: 

(a) The financial resources of the party seeking 
maintenance ... and his ability to meet his needs 
independently[; ... ] (b) The time necessary to acquire 
sufficient education or training to enable the party seeking 
maintenance to find employment[; ... ] (c) The standard of 
living established during the marriage; (d) The duration of 
the marriage; (e) The age, physical and emotional 
condition, and financial obligations of the spouse seeking 
maintenance; and (f) The ability of the spouse from whom 
maintenance is sought to meet his needs and financial 
obligations while meeting those of the spouse seeking 
maintenance.44 

40 Mathews, 70 Wn. App. at 119. 
41 In re Marriage of Vander Veen, 62 Wn. App. 861, 867, 815 P.2d 843,846 (1991). 
42 In Re Marriage ofCrosetto, 82 Wn. App. 545, 558, 918 P.2d 954, 960 (1996); and 
Mathews, 70 Wash.App. at 123,853 P.2d 462 
43 In re Marriage of Mathews , 70 Wn. App. 116, 122,853 P.2d 462, 466-67 (1993) 
44 Id. at 122-23, citing RCW 26.09.090. 
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Here, as in Matthews, the trial court failed to consider all the factors 

in RCW 26.09.090 when awarding lifetime maintenance to the former 

wife at a level amount. 

1. The trial court erred when it awarded lifetime 
maintenance without any knowledge of Mr. Singh's 
financial resources in the future. 

The trial court in this case, just like the trial court in Mathews, 

failed to consider the effect Mr. Singh's eventual disability or retirement 

would have upon his ability to pay maintenance while meeting his own 

needs when it ordered him to make a level monthly maintenance payment 

to the former wife for the rest of her life. The lower court must consider 

the "ability of the spouse or domestic partner from whom maintenance is 

sought to meet his or her needs and financial obligations while meeting 

those of the spouse or domestic partner seeking maintenance. ,,45 There is 

no consideration whatsoever on what effect Mr. Singh's eventual 

decrease in income due to disability or retirement would have on his 

ability to make a maintenance award to the former wife for as long as she 

may live. The trial court made no reduction in his maintenance payment 

when he retired or became disabled. The trial court only considered Mr. 

Singh's current capacity to support himself while paying maintenance to 

the former wife. Moreover, Mr. Singh testified that his health is 

45 RCW 26.09.090(f). 
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declining,46 and the trial court failed to consider what Mr. Singh's 

capacity for earning an income will be as his health continues to decline, 

and if or when he is unable to drive his taxi himself. 

For the court to make no inquiry into Mr. Singh's ability to pay 

maintenance to the former wife as his earnings continued to shrink, and 

no provision for a reduction in payment in the event of his retirement or 

disability, was error, just as it was in Mathews. 

2. The trial court erred when it did not take into account that 
the former wife had the ability to earn a living 
independently. 

Similarly, the lower court failed to fairly consider the impact the 

former wife's eventual employment would have upon her need for 

maintenance. RCW 26.09.090 dictates that the lower court should have 

considered "the time necessary to acquire sufficient education or training 

to enable the party seeking maintenance to find employment appropriate 

to [her] skill, interests, style of life, and other attendant circumstances." 

While the former wife's vocational horizons may currently be limited due 

to cultural isolation, language barriers, and duties in the home, there is 

nothing in the record to indicate that the wife is somehow permanently 

disabled and that with education and training could not earn an income 

46 VRP Vol. IV Pg. 303 Ln. 20-22; VRP. Vol. I Pg. 48 Ln 23-25; Vol. I Pg. 23 Ln 23-
25. 
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and support herself. The trial court did not find that the fonner wife will 

never be able to contribute significantly to her own livelihood. 

The only similar finding the trial court made was that the fonner 

wife could not presently "meet her needs independently" and that it was 

"likely that she will [n ]ever be able to acquire sufficient education or 

training to find appropriate employment.,,47 Nowhere did the trial court 

ever discuss what appropriate employment might be or what the fonner 

wife's financial needs were or what the difference is between her current 

financial needs and her current financial ability. Nowhere does it explain 

how those needs will be affected when she works or how much it will 

cost or how long it will take for her to acquire language skills or other 

retraining. 

The court suggests, without support, that the wife could never 

again attain the very modest lifestyle that she had previously enjoyed. As 

in Mathews, there is no finding that the wife's health or lack of training 

prevent her from working, merely that it is likely she will not find 

appropriate employment. The Wife is relatively young at only 44 years 

ofage.48 

Pennanent lifetime maintenance awards are reserved for spouses 

who have a pennanent debilitating illness and no capacity to earn an 

47 CP 14 (emphasis added). 
48 CP 1. 
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income presently or in the future. Washington "courts have approved 

awards of lifetime maintenance in a reasonable amount when it is clear 

the party seeking maintenance will not be able to contribute significantly 

to his or her own livelihood.,,49 Unlike the cases where a spouse has a 

permanent, debilitating illness, the former wife has previously earned 

income at nearly the same amount as the maintenance order by the trial 

court, roughly $1,000 per month. 50 There was no impediment in her 

continuing to earn a similar income. She filed a financial declaration 

showing $1,117 in total monthly expenses, indicating the income she is 

capable of earning is commensurate with her expenses. 51 There is nothing 

in the record to suggest that the forn1er wife is incapacitated or suffers 

irom some permanent disability such as impaired vision like the wife in 

Morrow or multiple sclerosis like the wife in Tower, nor did the trial 

court make any finding to this effect. Here, the former wife not only has 

present earning capacity, but her earning capacity would only increase as 

she acquires additional training, education, and language skills. 

The trial court never considered the fact the former wife, having 

been married to Mr. Singh for 10 years, will receive social security 

49 In re Marriage of Mathews, 70 Wn. App. 116, 124 (citing In re Marriage of Sheffer, 
60 Wn. App. 51, 56-58, 802 P.2d 817 (1990); In re Marriage of Bu/icek, 59 Wn. App. 
630,633-34, 800 P.2d 394; In re Marriage of Morrow, 53 Wn. App. 579, 770 P.2d 197) 
50 VRP Vol. IV Pg. 283 Ln. 10 
51 CP pending. See Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers sent separately. 
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benefits. These benefits include one-half Mr. Singh's social security 

retirement benefits when she reaches retirement age and Medicare when 

she reaches 65.52 This will decrease her need for maintenance and 

increase her ability to be self supporting. The trial court did not consider 

this important and required factor. 

3. The trial court erred when it failed to give weight to the 
reality that Mr. Singh and the former wife enjoyed a very 
modest lifestyle during the marriage. 

One of the statutory factors the court must consider when 

determining a maintenance award is the "standard of living established 

during the marriage. ,,53 The trial court, in its findings of fact, noted that 

during the 18 year marriage, Mr. Singh and the former wife were 

accustomed to "a modest standard ofliving.,,54 For more than half the 

time they were married, the former wife lived in a developing country in 

modest conditions; her days involved cooking, cleaning, and farming. 55 

The former wife's standard ofliving did not much improve upon entering 

the United States; her duties in the home remained the same while her 

work outside of the home continued to involve menial day labor. 56 

52 20 C.F.R. § 404.331. 
53 RCW 26.09.090(c). 
54 CP Pg. 13 Ln. 23, Finding of Fact 2.12. 
55 VRP Vol. IV Pg. 275 Ln. 12 
56 CP Pg. 14 Ln. 3 
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The trial court erred when it failed to recognize that the fonner 

wife's ability to support herselfthrough various low-skill jobs would 

afford her the same lifestyle that she maintained during the marriage. 

4. The trial court erred when it alluded to the former wife's 
recent surgery and the possibility of trauma as the basis 
for lifetime maintenance. 

The lower court erred when it referred to the fonner wife's recent 

surgery and potential trauma from the marriage as reason for the award of 

lifetime maintenance.

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