69698-0

6-8-01

No. 69698-0-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re:

GURMIT SINGH,

Appellant,

and

SATVIR KAUR,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE CHERYL CAREY

RESPONSIVE BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Law Office of Edward J. Hirsch, PLLC 2611 NE 113th Street, Suite 300 Seattle, WA 98115 206-434-6682

Attorney for Respondent

CONTROL OF THE SALES OF 36

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

CP 15, 17, 22.

Finally, the trial court entered judgments for Gurmit's obligations of \$8713 in attorney fees and sanctions and also \$9368 in unpaid maintenance while the case was pending. CP 16, 17, 22.

Gurmit appeals just the duration of the maintenance award.

V. Argument

1. The trial court considered the relevant statutory factors making a just award of maintenance.

The trial court has the broad discretion to order maintenance "in such amounts and for such periods of time as the court deems just, without regard to misconduct, after considering all relevant factors including but not limited to:

- (a) The financial resources of the party seeking maintenance, including separate or community property apportioned to him, and his ability to meet his needs independently ...;
- (b) The time necessary to acquire sufficient education or training to enable the party seeking maintenance to find employment appropriate to his skill, interests, style of life, and other attendant circumstances;
- (c) The standard of living established during the marriage;
- (d) The duration of the marriage;
- (e) The age, physical and emotional condition, and financial obligations of the spouse seeking maintenance; and
- (f) The ability of the spouse from whom maintenance is sought to meet his needs and financial obligations while meeting those of the spouse seeking maintenance.

RCW 26.09.090(1).

Here, the trial court made detailed written findings evincing a fair consideration of the relevant statutory factors in making the maintenance award. This Court reviews whether the findings of fact are supported by substantial evidence. In re Marriage of

Bernard, 165 Wn.2d 895, 903, 204 P.3d 907 (2009). Substantial evidence is evidence sufficient to persuade a fair-minded person of the truth of the declared premise. Id.

On appeal, Gurmit only challenges the finding that maintenance "should be paid to the former wife for the duration of her life." App. Br. at 1. The trial court's extensive unchallenged findings are verities on appeal. In re Marriage of Akon, 160 Wn. App. 48, 57, 248 P.3d 94 (2011).

In his other assignments of error, Gurmit asserts that the trial court should have give more weight to certain statutory factors and should have considered arguments that he did not raise at trial, but instead for the first time on appeal. The appellate court defers to the fact finder on witness credibility and the persuasiveness of the evidence. Akon, 160 Wn. App. at 57. In addition, the appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court. RAP 2.5(a). Arguments or theories not presented to the trial court will generally not be considered on appeal. In re Marriage of Tang, 57 Wn. App. 648, 655, 789 P.2d 118 (1990). Accordingly, the trial court's maintenance award should be affirmed solely on the basis of the unchallenged findings of fact on each statutory factor under RCW 26.09.070.

2. The trial court has broad discretion to award maintenance, after considering the factors in RCW 26.09.090(1).

Gurmit's primary contention is that the trial court exceeded its extremely limited discretion in making the lifetime award of maintenance. Specifically, he asserts – without citation to legal authority – that the recipient must have a "permanent debilitating illness" and "no capacity to earn income:"

Permanent lifetime maintenance awards are reserved for spouses who have a permanent debilitating illness and no capacity to earn income presently or in the future.

App. Br. at 13-14.

This assertion is flat out wrong. He misconstrues language from In re Marriage of Mathews, 70 Wn. App. 116, 853 P.2d 462 (1993), making it appear as if that case contains a similar holding:

A lifetime maintenance award can only be approved when it is clear that the party seeking maintenance will not be able to contribute significantly to his or her own livelihood.

App. Br. at 7.

This holding is nowhere to be found in <u>Mathews</u>. Instead, in that case, the appellate court, in reviewing a lifetime award of maintenance, noted that, in prior appellate opinions, our Courts "approved awards of lifetime maintenance in a reasonable amount when it is clear the party seeking maintenance will not be able to contribute significantly to his or her own livelihood." <u>Mathews</u>, 70

Wn. App. 116 at 124. This was not a holding, particularly not one that trial courts, in the future, may <u>only</u> award lifetime maintenance when the recipient "will not be able to contribute significantly to his or her own livelihood."

The relevant statutory subsection and related case law show that, in fact, the trial court has broad discretion in fashioning maintenance awards. Under RCW 26.09.090, the only limitation placed upon the trial court's ability to award maintenance is that the amount and duration, considering all relevant factors, be just." In re Marriage of Morrow, 53 Wn. App. 579, 584, 770 P.2d 197 (1989) (emphasis added).

The maintenance award is just.

The trial court's maintenance award is just, as shown by the unchallenged findings on each statutory factor under RCW 26.09.090(1). It also is very similar to the lifetime maintenance affirmed in In re Marriage of Morrow, 53 Wn. App. 579, 584, 770 P.2d 197 (1989). In that case, Mr. Morrow had a thriving practice as a certified public accountant and had been earning over \$200,000 a year. Morrow, 53 Wn. App. at 581-582, 586. He separated from his wife after 24 years of marriage and moved in with another woman who bequeathed him the bulk of her estate

when she died, worth \$375,000, including a freight company and a condominium that he previously acquired and gave her. Morrow, 53 Wn. App. at 581. He then transferred legal ownership of these properties to third parties, but remained beneficial owner. Morrow, 53 Wn. App. at 581.

Mrs. Morrow was earning \$750 a month as a part-time community college instructor, but she was unable to work full-time due "an irreversible medical condition that occasionally renders her legally blind" and "requires her to rely on others for transportation and limits her ability to function independently at work." Morrow, 53 Wn. App. at 581. She had expenses of \$3266 a month. Morrow, 53 Wn. App. at 582.

Mr. Morrow petitioned for dissolution for marriage and when she "refused to accept his offer, he threatened to liquidate assets to her detriment and in fact liquidated retirement funds, resulting in a \$70,000 tax loss." Morrow, 53 Wn. App. at 581-582.

Following a 13-day trial devoted largely to untangling Mr. Morrow's financial affairs, the court awarded Mr. Morrow one-half of the community property, worth \$109,000, but also found that he possessed nearly \$500,000 more in "resources identifiable to the parties," including a boat, two freight companies, and accounts

receivables from his accounting practice. Morrow, 53 Wn. App. at 583. Mrs. Morrow was awarded \$109,000 in assets plus lifetime maintenance of \$2,200 per month, because "so many assets" were beyond the reach of distribution and because Mrs. Morrow's needs were "so great." Morrow, 53 Wn. App. at 582-583.

On appeal, Mr. Morrow called the maintenance award "excessive," claiming Mrs. Morrow "does not need \$2,200 per month for life." Morrow, 53 Wn. App. at 584. The appellate court affirmed the trial court's use of lifetime maintenance as a means of compensating Mrs. Morrow for her vested property rights that Mr. Morrow appropriated for his separate purposes, leaving the court without sufficient property to refund her community interest.

Morrow, 53 Wn. App. at 586.

Here, the trial court similarly used maintenance to compensate Satvir for Gurmit's conversion of 100% of the community property for his own purposes, leaving her with nothing. CP 13-14. Where the assets of the parties are insufficient to permit compensation to be effected entirely through property division, a supplemental award of maintenance is appropriate. Morrow, 53 Wn. App. at 584. Gurmit has \$157,000 in cash, a \$30,000 taxi van, and a \$250,000 taxi cab license. Satvir just has a judgment for

\$109,000 and a maintenance award of \$1,000 for life, neither of which Gurmit will pay, based on his refusal to pay temporary maintenance and other financial obligations while the case was pending. CP 15-16. The economic condition in which a dissolution decree leaves the parties is a paramount concern in determining issues of property division and maintenance." Morrow, 53 Wn. App. at 586. If anything, Gurmit should be grateful that the trial court was as generous to him as it was.

In addition, in Morrow, the appellate court concluded that the trial court's maintenance award of \$2,200 per month until Mrs.

Morrow's death or remarriage "properly reflects the six factors listed in RCW 26.09.090." The same is true here. First, in considering Ms. Morrow's financial resources and her ability to meet her needs independently, the court noted that although Mrs. Morrow's "actual need in excess of her income may be less than \$2,200 per month," a spouse's need "is only one factor to be considered. RCW 26.09.090(1)(a)." Morrow, 53 Wn. App. at 585.

Here, Satvir requires more than \$1000 a month to meet her needs. She listed expenses of \$1117 a month on her financial declaration, however, these were only the most basic expenses, including no costs for transportation, health care, or recreation and

very little for dining out, personal items, and gifts. Ex. 170. She worked at her apartment building for in exchange for a \$100 a month reduction in rent. Otherwise, she was financially supported by her daughter and together, they were barely getting by.

Maintenance is not just a means of providing bare necessities, but rather a flexible tool by which the parties' standard of living may be equalized for an appropriate period of time. Morrow, 53 Wn. App. at 585. Satvir lacks the financial resources and ability to meet her needs even partially, unlike Ms. Morrow. Unfortunately, for her, maintenance is just a means of providing bare necessities.

Second, in looking at the time necessary for Ms. Morrow to acquire sufficient education to enable her to find appropriate employment, the court concluded that she "is not likely to achieve, by pursuing additional education and training, the financial independence enjoyed by Mr. Morrow." RCW 26.09.090(1)(b); Morrow, 53 Wn. App. at 587. Here, the trial court, in a much more pessimistic finding, concluded that "[g]iven her limited skills and emotional condition, it is likely that she will never be able to acquire sufficient education or training to find appropriate employment," let alone enjoy Gurmit's financial independence, based on his passive income from lease drivers and the value of

his assets. CP 14. The justification for the maintenance award is stronger here than in <u>Morrow</u>.

Third, the court found that Mr. and Ms. Morrow "enjoyed a high standard of living during their marriage." RCW 26.09.090(1)(c); Morrow, 53 Wn. App. at 587. Gurmit and Satvir had a modest standard of living, which only Gurmit maintained after the separation in 2008, as his monthly income exceeded his expenses by at least \$3400. CP 14. The maintenance award of \$1000 a month for life serves as "a flexible tool by which the parties' standard of living may be equalized for an appropriate period of time." Morrow, 53 Wn. App. at 585.

Fourth, reviewing the duration of the marriage, the court found that the parties "were married 23 years before separating, during which time Mrs. Morrow sacrificed her earning potential by becoming a homemaker" and concluded that the court's award "properly reflects the fact that Mrs. Morrow forfeited economic opportunities while her husband capitalized on them." RCW 26.09.090(1)(d); Morrow, 53 Wn. App. at 587-588.

Satvir also had a lengthy marriage of 18 years before separating. CP 2. She too was a homemaker, but she sacrificed much more than her earning potential. She sacrificed her

independence, her physical and emotional health, and her opportunity to participate meaningfully in society. RP 266-267, 282. Truly, she was little more than a slave – used to cook, clean, and work, violently abused, then kicked out of her home with nothing. RP 248-255, 275, 276, 280, 290. Her tremendous sacrifice, which Gurmit exploited, merits the maintenance award more than Ms. Morrow's sacrifice of just her potential.

Fifth, the court, considering Mrs. Morrow's "physical and emotional condition," found that her "physical disability warrants a higher award than would otherwise be appropriate" and her disability "makes lifetime maintenance reasonable in the circumstances." RCW 26.09.090(1)(e); Morrow, 53 Wn. App. at 588. Her physical disability prevented her from working full-time and required her to rely on others for transportation. Morrow, 53 Wn. App. at 581.

Satvir's physical and emotional condition was even more limiting. Her limited skills and language abilities opened only the most menial jobs to her. RP 250-253, 266, 268, 282-284. She has ongoing health issues that require frequent hospital visits, as well as debilitating emotion conditions due to Gurmit's emotional and physical trauma and abuse of her. RP 266-267, 282. Compared to

Ms. Morrow's situation, the maintenance award to Satvir is very reasonable.

Sixth, the court found that Mr. Morrow "is capable of paying the maintenance award without sacrificing his own needs." RCW 26.09.090(1)(f); Morrow, 53 Wn. App. at 588. Gurmit is in the same situation. The maintenance award "is less than 30% of his monthly net income of around \$3400." CP 14. On top of this, even if he pays Satvir \$109,000, he will still have \$328,000 in assets remaining.

In Morrow, the court considered, as a final factor, Mr.

Morrow's "dissipation and probable concealment of assets."

Morrow, 53 Wn. App. at 588. Gurmit's concealment of assets was worse. He took 100% of the assets, then kicked Satvir and her daughter out of their apartment with nothing, not even shoes on their feet. CP 14, 255- 256, 284.

In short, the lifetime maintenance award to Satvir was more justified than the award to Ms. Morrow, based on the compensatory nature of the maintenance award, the six factors listed in RCW 26.09.090(1), and Gurmit's concealment and dissipation of assets. The maintenance award should be affirmed.

By contrast, the facts of the present case are unlike those in In re Marriage of Mathews, 70 Wn. App. 116, 853 P.2d 462 (1993). Gurmit misconstrues Mathews. In that case, the court of appeals agreed with the husband that he did not have the ability to pay the wife one-half of his earnings of \$2800 a month – or \$1400 – for life, and also "pay Mrs. Mathews' health insurance premiums and her school tuition," as ordered, as it "leaves him with about \$1,000 a month, and Mrs. Mathews with \$1,855 per month." Mathews, 70 Wn. App. at 123 His financial situation would worsen upon his retirement, because he would have to pay the maintenance out of his one-half interest in his retirement account, which was divided between him and his wife by qualified domestic relations order. Mathews, 70 Wn. App. at 125.

The court noted that she "has that money available to her," as she was awarded the majority of the net proceeds from the sale of the family home, and also earned \$455 a month from her part-time job as a church bookkeeper "to help meet her needs" while completing a training as a medical secretary, despite testimony by her doctors and her counselor, questioning whether she "will ever be able to handle full-time employment" due to her health conditions. Mathews, 70 Wn. App. at 123-124.

In comparison, the lifetime maintenance award to Satvir was proper. Per the unchallenged findings, Gurmit "is able to meet his own needs while paying maintenance" of \$1,000 per month which "is less than 30% of his monthly net income." CP 14. Gurmit received the vast majority of the community property, all of which is in his possession and control. Satvir only received a judgment for \$109,000, which Gurmit refuses to pay, just as he refused to pay the awards of temporary maintenance and attorney fees during the pendency of the case. CP 19-20.

When Gurmit retires, he can lease his taxi van to two drivers, who would each pay \$1820 a month at today's rates or selling the taxi license worth \$250,000. Satvir will have nothing, except for whatever part of the \$109,000 she is able to collect and save. CP 14, RP 84, 106-108, 149, 155-159, 162, Ex. 122-125.

Arguments not raised in the trial court should not be reviewed.

Gurmit makes a number of new arguments for the first time on appeal, all of which should be rejected. The appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court. RAP 2.5(a). Arguments or theories not presented to the trial

court will generally not be considered on appeal. <u>In re Marriage of Tang</u>, 57 Wn. App. 648, 655, 789 P.2d 118 (1990).

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